I. INTRODUCTION & IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

In its opinion in this case ("Opinion"), the Court of Appeals 

reversed the trial court and summarily invalidated the City of Bellevue's 

("City's") process for interpreting and enforcing its zoning ordinance 

requiring that marijuana retailers in the City be separated by 1,000 feet 

("1 ,000 Foot Separation"). Although it is undisputed that the 1,000 Foot 

Separation is valid and enforceable, the Opinion abrogated the City's 

facially neutral means for determining which marijuana retailer was first 

in time for purposes of applying the 1,000 Foot Separation ("First in Time 

Determination"). The Opinion did not hold that the First in Time

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The City Adopts the 1,000 Foot Separation. 

Washington Initiative Measure No. 502 ("1-502''), passed by voters 

in November of2012, established a licensing program for marijuana 

businesses, including marijuana retail stores, to be administered by the 

Washington Liquor Control Board, now the Liquor and Cannabis Board 

1 Although the Opinion is unpublished, it can now be cited as persuasive authority 
pursuant to General Rule 14.1. 
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("LCB"). See, e.g., RCW 69.50.325. Following the enactment ofl-502, 

the Washington Attorney General opined that cities may, under article XI, 

section 11 of the Constitution, ban marijuana retailers outright from 

operating in their jurisdictions. AGO 2014 No.2 at 8-9. Where cities 

seek to regulate short of an outright ban, "the ... Constitution provides 

broad authority for local jurisdictions to regulate within their boundaries 

and impose land use and business licensing requirements." !d. at 9. 

After voters passed I-502, the City initially considered an outright 

ban but ultimately struck a compromise by adopting Ordinance No. 6133 

B-1 in October of2013, which provided for temporary interim zoning 

controls for marijuana businesses in the City. CP 551-56. In March 2014, 

in Ordinance No. 6156, the City extended the interim controls and added 

the 1,000 Foot Separation between marijuana retailers. CP 112, 127-30.2 

B. The City Notifies Marijuana Retail Applicants in the City 
About Its Process for Enforcing the 1,000 Foot Separation. 

After passage of I-502, the LCB allocated four licenses for 

marijuana retail outlets to operate in the City and established a lottery 

system to determine the four applicants whose applications could be 

finalized. CP 113. In May 2014, the LCB determined that applicant Par 4 

Investments LLC ("Par 4") was one of the four lottery winners, but 

2 The City subsequently adopted an additional restriction that only one marijuana 
retailer may operate in each of six defined subareas of the City, see Ordinance No. 6286, 
but that additional restriction is not at issue in this appeal. 
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Greensun was not. !d. After the LCB released its lottery results, the City 

sent a notice to all applicants, including Greensun, about the City's interim 

zoning controls and specifically notifying them that the City would apply 

the 1,000 Foot Separation to retail marijuana locations. !d.; CP 153. 

Greensun did not respond to this letter. CP 113. 

Around the time of this notice, the City received inquiries from 

applicants regarding the process that would be used to determine which 

retailer was first for purposes of enforcing the 1,000 Foot Separation. See, 

e.g., CP 592. A City Planner initially responded to several of these 

inquiries by stating that the timing of a completed building permit 

application would be used. See id.; CP 524. As the City further evaluated 

this issue, however, it determined that the time of issuance of an LCB 

license, not a completed building permit application, was the proper basis 

to make this determination. CP 524, 630-32. 

In early June 2014, the City received notice that Greensun had 

moved up to the Number 4 position in the LCB lottery. CP 115, 159-60. 

On June 9, the City received a Notice of Marijuana Application for 

Greensun, which identified its planned location as the Premises at 10600 

Main Street in Bellevue. CP 115. On June 4, the City previously had 

approved a retail location for lottery winner Par 4 that was within 1,000 
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feet of the Premises.3 CP 114. Accordingly, in its June 25 conditional 

approval of the Premises as Greensun's planned location, the City 

included the notice that it had adopted the 1,000 Foot Separation and that 

"[a]lthough the City approves the location for the use, such use may be 

prohibited at the proposed location based on the order the State issues the 

retail licenses." CP 115, 162 (emphasis added). Similarly, on June 24, the 

City sent a letter to all lottery participants notifying them that "the City 

shall consider the entity that is licensed first by the LCB to be the 'first-in-

time' applicant" and that the "issuance date for the letter serving as your 

30-day marijuana license will determine which entity is" licensed first. 

CP 115-16, 165-66. Again, Greensun did not respond. !d. 

The City decided to use the timing of issuance of the LCB license 

for the First in Time Determination because it is consistent with the 

language of the 1,000 Foot Separation, which applies to a "marijuana 

retailer." CP 129 ("[n]o marijuana retailer shall be located within 1,000 

feet of another marijuana retailer." (emphasis added)). City Ordinance 

No. 6133 B-1 defines "marijuana retailer" as "a person licensed by the 

state [LCB] to sell useable marijuana and marijuana-infused products in a 

retail outlet." CP 553. The City also determined that using a completed 

building permit application was not a fair basis to make that determination 

3 The City approved Par 4's planned location with the caveat that it reserved the right 
"to enforce violations of city ordinances and codes as exist now or as hereafter 
amended." CP 114, 155. 

6 



because it required applicants who might not receive an LCB license to 

invest resources in a location. CP 388, 524-25, 630-32. Greensun did not 

object to the City's decision to use the LCB license or to the fact that the 

City did not engage in rulemaking to determine that was the proper basis 

for the First in Time Determination until after it was determined that 

Greensun was not licensed first. CP 116, 262. 

C. The City Correctly Determines Greensun Was Not First. 

In early July 2014, the LCB confirmed that it likely would be 

issuing Par 4 the first retail license, because Par 4 was one of the original 

lottery winners. CP 116, 168. On Monday, July 7 at 9:17am, Par 4 

received the letter serving as its 30-day marijuana license ("conditional 

approval letter") dated July 3, and the LCB notified City officials that Par 

4 was the "first of the Marijuana Retailers approved for Bellevue." CP 

116-17, 171-73, 175-76. The LCB sent a revised conditional approval 

letter to Par 4 at 1:08pm on July 7. CP 191, 230-34. 

After the City notified Greensun that Par 4' s LCB license was 

issued first, Greensun claimed that Par 4' s license was issued in error and 

notified the City that it received its conditional approval letter at 3:04pm 

on July 7. CP 117, 182-88, 191, 219-28. The City sought information 

from the LCB, Par 4, and Greensun regarding when the conditional 

approval letters were issued. CP 190-92, 195-234, 241. On July 29, the 
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City sent Greensun a letter summarizing its finding that Par 4 was, in fact, 

first in time because both its original and revised conditional approval 

letters were issued prior to Greensun's letter. CP 191-92,236-41.4 

D. Greensun Sues the City for Alleged Constitutional Violations. 

More than four months after the City determined Greensun was not 

first in time, Greensun sued the City, alleging claims for violations of the 

Due Process Clause, Privileges and Immunities Clause, and for 

declaratory and injunctive relief. CP 1-11. Greensun filed a Motion for 

Preliminary Injunction, which the trial court denied following a December 

2014 hearing. CP 248-49. In February 2015, the City moved for 

summary judgment on the grounds that Greensun's claims were time-

barred by LUPA and failed on their merits. CP 263-85. The trial court 

initially granted the City partial summary judgment on the issues that 

Greensun abandoned on summary judgment, specifically Greensun's due 

process claim and the facial challenge portion of its privileges and 

immunities claim, and ordered supplemental briefing on Greensun's 

"request for cross-relief' on the remaining as-applied challenge portion of 

Greensun's privileges and immunities claim. CP 780-82. 

4 Importantly, Greensun did not argue before the trial court or on appeal that the 
building permit application should have been used to decide which retailer was first. 
This is because even if the building permit application were used, Greensun would not 
have been first. CP 592-93. The only alternative basis that Greensun ever identified for 
making the First in Time Determination was that Greensun believes it would have been 
able to open its store first, which was too speculative a basis for the City to use to enforce 
the 1,000 Foot Separation. See, e.g., CP 518-19, 388, 524-25. 
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Following supplemental briefing, the trial court granted the City's 

summary judgment motion in full and dismissed Greensun's claims. CP 

774-76. The trial court acknowledged Greensun's assertions that the City 

"acted arbitrarily and capriciously in denying their business license" and 

specifically ruled as follows: 

Assuming this claim is not barred by LUPA, Plaintiff has 
the burden of proof. Plaintiff did not have a vested right in 
operating the marijuana store as they were awaiting a state 
license. The evidence shows that the city first considered 
one method to determine first in time under its zoning 
ordinance and then ultimately chose another method. The 
method appears to be neutral on its face. There is no 
evidence that the second method was chosen for the 
purpose of harming Plaintiff or of benefiting a rival 
business. All parties were notified of the process to be 
used. 

Plaintiff challenges the lack of a formal process in 
establishing the method to determine first in time. There 
does not appear to be a requirement under Bellevue City 
Code for the Director to promulgate formal rules. The code 
is permissive. The Director may promulgate rules. 

CP 776. Thus, the Court held that Greensun had not established that the 

City's conduct was arbitrary and capricious. !d. Greensun moved for 

reconsideration, which the trial court denied. See CP 764-65. Greensun 

then filed a notice of appeal and amended notice of appeal. CP 766-82. 

The Court of Appeals' reversed the trial court's decision, and 

invalidated the City's process for making the First in Time Determination 

because the City failed to engage in formal rulemaking. Opinion at 16. 
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The Court of Appeals further determined that the City's First in Time 

Determination was a business license decision and not a land use decision 

subject to LUPA's 21-day statute oflimitations. !d. at 10. The Court of 

Appeals remanded "for further proceedings consistent with" the Opinion. 

!d. at 18. The City filed a timely motion for reconsideration, which the 

Court of Appeals denied on August 10, 2016. Appendix B. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Opinion Conflicts with Precedent. 

1. The Opinion Conflicts with this Court's Precedent Regarding 
Rulemaking Requirements. 

The Opinion incorrectly holds that the City's First in Time 

Determination for purposes of applying the 1,000 Foot Separation was a 

"rule" that required the City to engage in rulemaking. 5 This holding 

conflicts with this Court's precedent imposing commonsense limits on 

what constitutes a "rule" and precedent recognizing the authority of 

municipalities to construe and effectuate their own ordinances. 

In conflict with this Court's precedent, the Opinion adopts such a 

broad definition of "rule" that nearly every administrative process could 

be determined to be a "rule." The Opinion begins by observing that the 

5 The Opinion incorrectly states that "[n]either the City's summary judgment brief or 
brief on appeal address [sic] this issue." Opinion at 11, n.9. On summary judgment, the 
City specifically argued that it had the legal authority to establish a process for 
determining which retailer was first in time. CP 280-81. The City also addressed the 
need for rulemaking in its supplemental brief requested by the trial court, CP 61 0-14, and 
in its Brief of Respondent, Respondent's Br. at 34-39. 
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term "rule" is undefined in the Bellevue City Code ("BCC"). Opinion at 

13. Despite acknowledging that under the BCC legal terms shall be 

construed according to their peculiar meaning, the Opinion proceeds to 

place great weight on dictionary definitions of"rule" in a largely non-legal 

context. See id. The Opinion relies on these definitions to conclude that 

the First in Time Determination is a rule because it "is a guide, regulation, 

or principle that governs the City's procedure for siting marijuana retail 

stores now and in the future." Opinion at 13-14. The Opinion's 

characterization of the First in Time Determination is inaccurate. The 

City's valid 1,000 Foot Separation is the guide, principle, and regulation 

that governs the siting of marijuana retail stores in the City. The First in 

Time Determination interprets and effectuates that zoning ordinance. 

Moreover, the Opinion's holding that the First in Time 

Determination required rulemaking cannot be reconciled with this Court's 

decision in Earl M Jorgensen Co. v. City of Seattle, 99 Wn.2d 861, 665 

P.2d 1328 (1983). In Jorgensen, this Court considered whether the City of 

Seattle's adoption of an electrical rate increase was a rule that required 

rulemaking. !d. at 863, 874. The Jorgensen Court determined that 

Seattle's rate-making likely fell within the very broad definition of"rule" 

within the Seattle Municipal Code, "[b ]ut then so does most everything the 

Council does in its legislative capacity." !d. at 874. Accordingly, despite 
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Seattle's broad statutory definition of"rule," the Court held that there 

must be "commonsense limits" on what constitutes a rule and determined 

that Seattle did not intend its rate increase to be a rule. !d. 

The Opinion attempts to distinguish Jorgensen on the basis that 

that Seattle's code includes a definition of"rule," whereas the City of 

Bellevue's code does not. Opinion at 14-15. But Jorgensen held that 

even where the definition of "rule" is "broad and nonexhaustive," it must 

be subject to commonsense limits. 99 Wn.2d at 874 ("It is simply because 

the definition of 'rule' is so sweeping that we must place commonsense 

limits on it."). The Opinion provides no basis to distinguish between 

using a broad dictionary definition of "rule" and a broad statutory 

definition of"rule" for purposes of applying Jorgensen. 

Under Jorgensen, it is error to simply evaluate whether a 

municipal decision falls within the very broad definition of "rule," without 

considering the implications of that decision and without considering 

whether the City intended its decision "to be an 'order, directive or 

regulation' constituting a rule under the code." !d. at 874.6 In this case, 

the Opinion fails to consider whether the City intended its interpretation of 

6 The Opinion states that it is "consistent with the intent of the Bellevue City Code 
and our duty to construe the provisions of the code 'with a view to effect their objects and 
to promote justice.'" Opinion at 15 (quoting BCC 1.04.040(A). To the contrary, the 
Opinion's conclusion is inconsistent with the permissive rulemaking provision in City 
Land Use Code ("LUC") 20.40.100 ("The Director may adopt rules for the 
implementation of this title[.]"). Nor does the Opinion promotes justice when Greensun 
had advance notice of the First in Time Determination but did not object. CP 262. 
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its zoning ordinance as a whole, including the definition of "marijuana 

retailer," to be an order, directive or regulation. By simply holding that 

the City's decision falls within the broad category of"a general norm 

mandating or guiding conduct or action in a given type of situation," 

Opinion at 14, the Opinion transforms essentially any City decision based 

on an ordinance into a "rule" requiring rulemaking, in conflict with this 

Court's prior recognition of commonsense limits on such requirements. 

The Opinion's holding that the City failed to engage in mandatory 

rulemaking also directly conflicts with other precedent from this Court 

holding that a municipality may construe and effectuate its own statutes 

without engaging in formal rulemaking. For example, in Hama Hama Co. 

v. Shorelines Hr'gs Bd., 85 Wn.2d 441, 536 P.2d 157 (1975), this Court 

held "that considerable judicial deference should be accorded to the 

special expertise of administrative agencies" when construing a statutory 

scheme and that "we have heretofore recognized that it is an appropriate 

function for administrative agencies to 'fill in the gaps' where necessary to 

the effectuation of a general statutory scheme." !d. at 448. 

The Opinion mistakenly attempts to distinguish Hama Hama on 

the basis that it applies only when a statute is ambiguous. See Opinion at 

16. To the contrary, Hama Hama recognizes both the authority of 

agencies to construe an ambiguous statutory scheme and to fill in gaps in a 
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scheme. 85 Wn.2d at 448. Thus, whether the City's statutory scheme is 

ambiguous is beside the point. It cannot reasonably be disputed that in 

order to apply the City's valid 1,000 Foot Separation, under the 

circumstances where there were not yet any marijuana retailers located in 

the City, the City needed to determine which marijuana retailer first 

located in the City. This Court repeatedly has held that a municipality 

may interpret its zoning ordinances without adopting a formal rule, so long 

as it adopts the interpretation in advance. See, e.g., Sleasman v. City of 

Lacey, 159 Wn.2d 639, 646, 151 P.3d 990 (2007) (while a city must show 

it adopted an interpretation of its ordinance as a "matter of agency policy . 

. . the construction does not have to be memorialized as a formal rule" 

(internal citation omitted)); Ellensburg Cement Prod., Inc. v. Kittitas 

Cnty., 179 Wn.2d 737, 753, 317 P.3d 1037 (2014) (applying same rule 

under LUPA). 

Here, the City properly effectuated and construed its statutory 

scheme by advising all applicants in advance that the basis for making the 

First in Time Determination would be when an applicant received its LCB 

license and became a "marijuana retailer" subject to the 1,000 Foot 

Separation. See CP 630-32, 115-16. The Opinion's holding that the City 

was required to adopt a formal rule conflicts with this Court's precedent, 

14 



fails to give deference to the City's intent and interpretation of its own 

ordinance, and fails to do justice. 

2. The Opinion Conflicts with Precedent Regarding When a Court 
May Invalidate a City's Enforcement of a Zoning Ordinance. 

The Opinion also conflicts with precedent regarding when a court 

may invalidate a city's implementation of a marijuana zoning ordinance. 

Notably, the Opinion does not reverse the trial court's dismissal of 

Greensun' s constitutional claims, its determination that no vested rights 

were involved, or its determination that the City's actions were not 

arbitrary and capricious. See Opinion at 17, n.l3. Rather, the Opinion 

takes the unprecedented step of invalidating the City's enforcement of its 

zoning ordinance without any determination that the City violated 

Greensun's rights or any other general law. 

The Opinion cites Hillis v. Dep't of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d 373, 932 

P .2d 13 9 ( 1997), as authority for its invalidation of the First in Time 

Determination. Opinion at 17 (quoting Hillis, 131 Wn.2d at 400 

("Ecology's decisions, made without rule making, must be invalidated.")). 

But Hillis invalidated a rule adopted without rulemaking under the 

Administrative Procedure Act, ch. 34.05 RCW ("AP A"). 131 Wn.2d at 

400; see also RCW 34.05.570(2)(c). As even the Opinion recognizes, 

however, the AP A and its rulemaking requirements do not apply to cities. 

Opinion at 14 ("The AP A does not apply to municipalities."); see also 
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Plumbers & Steamfitters Union Local 598 v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply 

Sys., 44 Wn. App. 906,911, 724 P.2d 1030 (1986). 

Additionally, the APA rulemaking requirements are based in due 

process concepts of ensuring notice. See, e.g., Hillis, 131 Wn.2d at 399. 

Greensun alleged, but could not establish, a due process claim and a 

privileges and immunities claim. See In re Det. of Stout, 159 Wn.2d 357, 

370, 150 P.3d 86 (2007) (requirements for due process claim); Ass 'n of 

Wash. Spirits & Wine Distributors v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 182 

Wn.2d 342, 359-60, 340 P.3d 849 (2015) (requirements for privileges and 

immunities claim). The Opinion relieves Greensun of the burden to prove 

these claims, in conflict with this Court's precedent. 

Moreover, this Court and the Court of Appeals repeatedly have 

held that cities and other municipal corporations need not engage in 

formal rulemaking to ensure sufficient notice. See, e.g., Gary Merlino 

Canst. Co. v. City of Seattle, 108 Wn 2d 597,602,741 P.2d 34,37 (1987) 

(where bid documents provided notice of conduct that would violate 

ordinance, city did not need to promulgate formal rules); Plumbers &

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