III. Introduction 

This case is sui generis and does not meet any of the criteria of 

RAP 13 .4(b) for acceptance and review by the Supreme Court. It involves 

mid-level staff at the City of Bellevue creating a rule without following 

the rule-making procedures set forth in the Bellevue City Code and then 

using that rule to deny Greensun Group LLC ("Greensun") a business 

license for its retail marijuana store. 

The Bellevue City's Land Use Code ("LUC") allows the director 

of the Planning Department to adopt rules for implementation of the 

zoning code, ''provided the director shall first hold a public hearing". 

LUC 20.40.1 00. The code further provides that the public hearing be 

preceded by publication of the proposed rule, notice of the hearing and 

opportunity for persons to submit vvTitten comments or testimony. 

Without following the requirements for a hearing and notice set forth in 

LUC 20.40.1 00, members of the planning staff devised their so-called 

First-In-Time Rule. They then used the First-In-Time Rule to deny a 

business license agreement to Greensun to operate a marijuana retail store 

following its receipt of a license from the Washington State Liquor 

Control Board. 

It is an undisputed fact in this case that Greensun would have 

opened for business in the week following issuance of its marijuana 
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retailer license on July 7, 2014, but for the refusal of the City staff to issue 

a business license. If it had opened at that time, it would not have been ~n 

violation of the zoning ordinance prohibiting a retail marijuana store from 

operating within 1,000 feet of another retail marijuana store, because no 

other marijuana retailer was in operation in Bellevue at the time. In this 

action, Greensun challenged use of the First-In-Time Rule to deny it a 

business license and seeks injunctive reliefto put it in the position it 

would have been, but for the improper action of mid-level City staffers. In 

its Opinion reversing the trial court, the Court of Appeals succinctly stated 

its ruling on the central issue in this case as follows: 

Under the unique circumstances here, LUC 20.40.1 OO's rule 
making procedures apply to the City's first-in-time rule. Because 
the City's first-in-time decisions were made \\<ithout rule-making, 
the rule and these decisions must be invalidated. Hillis v. Dep 't of 
Ecology, 131 Wn.2d. 373,400,932 P.2d 139 (1997). 

The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case does not meet any 

of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) for acceptance and review by the Supreme 

Court. Contrary to assertions in Bellevue's petition for review, the 

Court's decision does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court 

or another decision of the Court of Appeals. The petition fails to identify 

a "significant question of law under the constitution of the State of 

Washington or of the United States." This case does not involve "an issue 

of substantial public interest", but rather a unique and isolated 
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circumstance of City staff attempting to impose rules which were not 

adopted pursuant to rule-making procedures established by the City 

Council. It has no impact beyond the boundaries of the City of Bellevue 

and within the City of Bellevue impacts only Greensun. 

IV. Statement of Case 

On July 7, 2014, the WSLCB issued its first batch of retail marijuana 

licenses in the State of Washington. Greensun was among the applicants 

to receive a license on July 7. CP 373. Its premises at 10400 Main Street 

for operating of a retail marijuana store under its license were ready for 

operation. Greensun only needed to move into the premises some 

furniture, equipment and inventory in order to begin operations. CP 358-

359. It also needed to receive a business license from the City of 

Bellevue. Under Bellevue City Code, operation of a business without a 

business license is punishable as a misdemeanor and through civil 

sanctions. In May, Bellevue had received Greensun's application for a 

business license, but by letter from Riley Pitman, a City Planner, Greensun 

was advised that the business license would not be issued until Greensun 

had received its marijuana retailer license from WSLCB. Thus, when it 

received notification of the issuance of its license by WSLCB, Seth 

Simpson, one ofGreensun's owners and managers, went to City Hall to 

pick up the business license. CP 358. However, he was told by City 
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Planner, Catherine Drews, that Bellevue would not issue Greensun a 

business license under their so-called First-In-Time Rule. 

Under its Ordinance No. 6156, Bellevue City Council had adopted a 

simple prohibition which restricted one marijuana retailer from being 

located within 1 ,000 feet of another marijuana retailer. CP 82. Mid-level 

city planners began to try to devise ways of determining in advance of 

issuance of marijuana retailer licenses by the WSLCB which licensee 

might have priority for purposes of enforcing the 1 ,000 foot separation 

requirement in the City Council's ordinance. However, nothing in the 

ordinance required such a determination in advance. This zoning 

restriction could have been enforced through various enforcement 

procedures in the zoning code if and when a marijuana retailer opened a 

store within 1,000 feet of an existing marijuana retail store. Nevertheless, 

members of the planning staff attempted to establish rules and procedures 

for determining priority between applicants whose proposed locations may 

be within 1,000 feet of each other. At first, city planners advised 

applicants that an applicant could "lock down" a store location based on 

being the first to submit a building permit application. CP 416-417; CP 

426; CP 427. This approach was abandoned in the middle of the 

application process and replaced by a rule announced in a letter by 

Catherine Drews, a planner, to all of the pending applicants for marijuana 
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retailer licenses dated June 24, 2014. In that letter she announced what 

became known as the First-In-Time Rule, which stated that the date of the 

issuance a letter from the WSLCB granting the marijuana retailer license 

would be the basis for establishing priority as between two licensees with 

proposed stores located within 1,000 feet of each other. This First-In

Time Rule did not address the situation in which two licensees are 

licensed by the WSLCB on the same date. CP 405-406. 

In this case, the WSLCB issued marijuana retailer licenses to both 

Greensun and Par 4 on July 7, 2014-the first day in which any licenses 

were issued in the State of Washington. CP 373. Catherine Drews advised 

Greensun that Bellevue had determined that Par 4 had priority under the 

First-In-Time Rule, because it appeared that it received its letter via e-mail 

approximately an hour before Greensun had received its letter by e-mail. 

CP 5067-509. When Greensun protested that both Par 4 and Greensun had 

been licensed at the same time and that its business license should be 

issued, Ms. Drews referred this matter to assistant city attorney, Chad 

Barnes. Mr. Barnes invited counsel for Greensun and Par 4 to submit 

relevant information on the issue and conducted his own investigation into 

the licensing process at WSLCB. CP 740. He acknowledged in a letter he 

had been advised by an assistant attorney general representing the 

WSLCB, Kim O'Neal, that the WSLCB had no means of determining the 
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priority among the batch of26 licenses issued on July 7 and could not 

state that one license was issued before another. !d. 

Despite the information from counsel for WSLCB, Mr. Barnes wrote 

a letter to Greensun dated July 29,2016 advising Greensun that Bellevue 

would not issue it a business license for its marijuana retailer store on 

Main Street because of application of the First-In-Time Rule and further 

warned of legal action in the event Greensun attempted to open its store 

without a business license. CP 408-409. 

The undisputed facts in this case are that Greensun was prepared to 

open its store within the week following the issuance of its WSLCB 

license on July 7, while Par 4 would not be ready to open its store for two 

months. CP 358-359. Greensun's premises were ready for occupancy and, 

if its business license had been issued by Bellevue, it would have moved 

in equipment and inventory and opened for business within the week. If it 

had opened for business at that time it would not have been in violation of 

Ordinance No. 6156 since there were no other marijuana retail stores in 

Bellevue at that time. The proposed site for Par 4 · s store was in the 

beginning stages of renovation and would not be ready for operation as a 

marijuana retail store for over two months. 
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V. Argument 

A. Bellevue fails to identify any actual conflict between the Opinion 
and precedence of the Washington State Supreme Court. 

With respect to subsection (1) of RAP 13.4(b), th~ petition fails to 

identify a conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. Rather, Bellevue 

cites two Supreme Court cases which the Court of Appeals correctly 

distinguished as not applicable to the case at hand: Earl M Jorgensen Co. 

v. City ofSeattle, 99 Wn.2d 861,665 P.2d 1328 (1983) and Hama Hama 

Co. v. Shorelines Hr 'gs Bd., 85 Wn.2d 441, 536 P.2d 157 (1975). 

Jorgensen involved whether or not a decision made by the Seattle 

City Council to set electricity rates fell within the City Council's inherent 

legislative authority, or whether or not the Seattle City Code, adopted by 

the City Council, intended the decision to fall within in the City Code's 

administrative procedures act. Bellevue raised this argument in its 

briefing and the Court of Appeals properly considered this argument and 

dismissed it. The City now seeks to repeat those arguments without 

addressing the Opinion of the Court of Appeals or acknowledging it 

considered and rejected Bellevue's argument. 

In its analysis of Jorgensen, Bellevue conflates the legislative 

authority of the Seattle City Council with the administrative authority of 

city staff members to promulgate rules. Bellevue's Petition for Review at 

12. Unlike a City Council, administrative employees have only that 
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authority which is granted to them by the city code, they do not have 

inherent authority to legislate rules. In this case, the Court of Appeals 

properly recognized this fact and focused its analysis on the staff's 

authority and the restrictions contained in the Bellevue City Code. 

In doing so, the Opinion properly distinguished the Jorgensen 

decision from the case before the Court. The Court properly analyzed 

traditional rules of statutory interpretation to the Bellevue City Code, 

including the Code's own guidance, to determine what the city council 

intended to be a rule within the rule-making authority of the city staff. 

The Court of Appeals applied the provisions ofBCC 1.04.040 to 

arrive at two definitions of a "Rule:" A technical and general definition. 

The Court then analyzed the effect of the first-in-time rule and held that it 

affected the siting of the City's marijuana stores presently and in the 

future. The Opinion at 14. The Court then addressed Bellevue's arguments 

regarding Jorgensen as unpersuasive. Unlike a city council, city staff only 

have authority which is granted to them by legislative enactments. Staff 

are not granted inherent authority to adopt rules. When this Court decided 

Jorgensen, the Seattle Municipal Code could be read in a way that made 

every enactment or ordinance of the City Council was an administrative 

decision, rather than a legislative enactment. In contrast, this case involves 

the definition of a rule within the meaning of the Bellevue City Code, the 
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authority granted to staff to adopt such a rule, and the process the staff 

must use when doing so. The staff does not possess any inherent 

legislative authority to balance with the administrative authority granted 

by the City Code. 

Bellevue then proceeds to argue that the intent of the city statTis 

determinative of whether or not the city stafT intended a rule to be a rule, 

again relying on the Jorgensen opinion. This position fails to 

acknowledge the differences between city staff and a city legislative 

authority. Intent was relevant in Jorgensen, because the Seattle City 

Council was the legislative authority. Legislative intent was relevant in 

interpreting the meaning of the Seattle City Code. In contrast, the city 

staffs intent is irrelevant in interpreting the definition of a rule within the 

meaning of the Bellevue City Code and the scope of its own authority 

conveyed by that code. Bellevue continues to argue acts and authority of a 

city council and a city staff are one and the same and fails to draw any 

distinction between the two, generalizing it as simply "city authority." 

The Opinion properly rejected these arguments as unpersuasive. 

Even if the Opinion failed to properly analyze what limits to the 

definition of a rule should be in place, Bellevue has offered no argument 

on what the limits should be or how the Opinion failed reflect them. The 

Opinion properly analyzed the etTect of the rule in question and 
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specifically pointed out that the City Staff communicated the rule to all 

applicants as a rule of general application. Bellevue refused to issue a 

business license based upon this rule and because of Bellevue's refusal, 

Greensun was unable to open when it was ready. In every reasonable, 

common-sense meaning of the term, a rule that prevents one store from 

opening while allowing another store months of additional, protected 

preparation time, constitutes a rule. 

Likewise, Bellevue also argues that the Opinion improperly analyzed 

Hama Hama Co. v. Shorelines Hr'gs Bd., 85 Wn.2d441, 536 P.2d 157 

(1975) and failed to defer to City Staff. The Opinion properly rejected the 

application of Hama Hama, however, because Bellevue does not allege 

any ambiguity in the ordinance adopting a 1,000-foot separation 

requirement. This Court has explicitly held that the Hama Hama 

deference rule only applies when a statute is ambiguous: "The specific 

rule set out in Hama Hama applies when the statutory language is 

ambiguous." Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 

828 P.2d 549, 556 (1992). Likewise, Bellevue cites to Sleasman v City of 

Lacey 159 Wn.2d 639,646, 151 P.3d 990 (2007) and Ellensburg Cement 

Prod., Inc. v. Kittitas Cnty., 179 Wn.2d. 737, 317 P.3d. 1037 (2014) in a 

new argument that it was not required to adopt a formal rule to interpret an 

ordinance. Both those cases, however, support that Bellevue is not 
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entitled to any deference. In both those cases, this Court explicitly held 

that the local entity was not entitled to deference in the interpretation of a 

local ordinance when the ordinance was unambiguous and there was no 

history or pattern of practice for enforcing the ordinance. Again, 

affirming the Hama Hama rule only attaches when there is an ambiguity. 

Bellevue ignores this well-established precedent and Bellevue fails to 

point to either a history of enforcement that predates the current litigation 

or ambiguity in the ordinance. The Opinion properly rejected these 

arguments and held the Hama Hama deference rule was inapplicable. 

B. The Court of Appeals properly invalidated a rule adopted by 
City Staff without authority. 

With respect to subsection (2) of RAP 13 .4(b ), the petition suggests 

that the decision improperly relied on Hillis in invalidating Bellevue's first 

in time rule. Having found that the first in time rule was improperly 

adopted, Bellevue now asks this court to review the Opinion on the 

premise that the Hillis decision involved the State's Administrative 

Procedures Act while Bellevue's rule making does not. But the Hillis 

principle stands. In the event that a rule is adopted without authority, the 

only remedy is to invalidate the action. This is a well-established legal 

principle and does not just exist within the bounds ofthe administrative 

procedures act, Hillis v. Dep 't of Ecology, 131 Wn.2d. 373, 400, 932 P.2d 
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139 ( 1997), but in any municipal act which is ultra vires and not just based 

upon the statutory language of the administrative procedures act. Bellevue 

provides no support for its position that if a rule was adopted improperly, 

the Court lacks the authority to invalidate the rule. 

C. Bellevue fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals 
improperly applied the plain language of the LUPA statute. 

The Court of Appeals Opinion sets forth a straight forward 

interpretation of the definition of a land use decision under the Land Use 

Petition Act ("LUPA") which, contrary to petitioner's assertion, does not 

conflict with any decision of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court. 

The Opinion correctly states that whether an action is a "land use 

decision" subject to LUPA's 21-day statute oflimitation is governed by 

the language of the statute. The relevant statutory provision states:

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